
  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Economic Regeneration, 
Housing and the Arts Policy 

and Accountability 
Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 1 December 2015 
7.00 pm 

 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 
 

Administration: Opposition 

Councillor Daryl Brown 
Councillor Adam Connell 
Councillor Alan De'Ath (Chair) 
 

Councillor Lucy Ivimy 
Councillor Harry Phibbs 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Ainsley Gilbert 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2088 
 E-mail: ainsley.gilbert@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 
 

Date Issued: 
 

23 November 2015 
 

 
 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy


  

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Economic Regeneration, Housing and the 
Arts Policy and Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

1 December 2015 
 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 * See note below.  

3.   MINUTES & ACTIONS  1 - 9 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 3rd November 2015 and 
to note progress made against actions. 

 

4.   THE FINANCIAL PLAN FOR COUNCIL HOMES  10 - 14 

5.   SERVICE CHARGES FOR LEASEHOLDERS  15 - 18 

6.   WORK PROGRAMME AND DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING  19 - 22 

 The next meeting will be held on 19th January 2016.  
 
 
* If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, whether or not it is  
entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any other significant interest which they 
consider should be declared in the public interest, they should declare the existence and, 
unless it is a sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature of the 
interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or as soon as it becomes 
apparent.  
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in attendance and speak, any 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest or other significant interest may also make 
representations, give evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote 
taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and speak, then the 
Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should withdraw from the meeting whilst the 
matter is under consideration. Councillors who have declared other significant interests 
should also withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation in the 
matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may give rise to a perception of a 
conflict of interest.  
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a dispensation to that effect 
has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions and Standards Committee. 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Economic 
Regeneration, 

Housing and the 
Arts Policy and 
Accountability 

Committee 
Minutes 

 

Tuesday 3 November 2015 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Daryl Brown, Adam Connell, Alan De'Ath 
(Chair), Lucy Ivimy and Harry Phibbs 
 
Other Councillors: Ben Coleman, Stephen Cowan, Sue Fennimore, Lisa Homan, 
Andrew Jones, Max Schmid and Natalia Perez 
 
Officers: Kathleen Corbett, John D'Souza, Teresa Itabor, Jane Martin, Nilavra 
Mukerji, Cate Evans, Janey Haigh and Colin Thomas 
 

 
18. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
There were no apologies for absence from members. Beverley Bernett and 
Suzanne Iwai, both representatives of TRAs had sent their apologies for 
being unable to attend. 
 

19. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

20. MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 8th September 2015 were agreed to be 
accurate.  
 
Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for Economic Development and 
Regeneration provided an update on action relating to the Arts Strategy since 
the meeting. He explained that a lot of helpful detailed written representations 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

had been received after the meeting, and that these, along with the 
comments made at the meeting were being used to revise the draft arts 
strategy. The strategy would then be broadly consulted upon, and this was 
likely to take place in the first few months of 2016.   
ACTION - The update provided by Councillor Jones was to be shared with 
residents who had attended the meeting held on 8th September 2015. 
 
 

21. RECOMMENDATION OF THE RESIDENTS' COMMISSION ON COUNCIL 
HOUSING  
 
Councillor Phibbs explained that he felt the committee were unable to 
effectively scrutinise the content of the report of the Residents’ Commission 
on Council Housing as members had not had advance sight of the document. 
The Chair explained that the role of the committee was not to scrutinise the 
report of the independent residents commission, but to scrutinise the 
administration; were the Cabinet to decide to take action based on the report, 
the committee would be able to scrutinise that. Councillor Cowan, Leader of 
the Council, said that the Commission had requested that their report be 
presented first to the Economic Regeneration, Housing and the Arts Policy 
and Accountability Committee as it was this committee which had proposed 
the creation of the Residents’ Commission. He confirmed that the Cabinet 
would welcome scrutiny of any decision they took relating to the 
reccomendations of the report.  
 
The Chair introduced the Rt Hon. Keith Hill, Chair of the Residents’ 
Commission on Council Housing. Keith Hill said that he was pleased to be 
able to present the Resident’s Commission’s report to the Policy and 
Accountability Committee which had first proposed the Commission’s 
creation. He explained that the report included a number of radical proposals 
for changes to the way Council housing was owned and managed, and that 
he understood that these proposals might on first sight be hard to accept for 
some people. Mr Hill explained the approach that the Residents’ Commission 
had taken to its work. He said that the core values of the Commission had 
been transparency and independence, and in this spirit nine public hearings 
had been held around the borough, covering each of the key areas the 
Commission had identified. Evidence had been received from 40 witnesses 
and 9 visits to other organisations had been undertaken, as well as 19 estate 
visits and 22 sheltered accomodation scheme coffee mornings. 78,000 
newsletters had been distributed, and the Commission’s website had received 
19,000 ‘hits’. All of this work, as well as a fair number of closed commission 
meetings, had meant that members of the Commission had had to sacrifice a 
large amount of their time and energy to the project, and he thanked all 
members for their efforts. The meeting, at this point, showed its appreciation 
for the hard work of the Residents’ Commission with an extended round of 
applause.  
 
Keith Hill moved on to explain the tasks given to the Residents Commission 
by the Cabinet which were: to consider the options for empowering residents 
to take local control over their homes; to find the best way of maximising 
investment in existing council homes; and to see how new homes could be 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

built. The Commission had chosen to add a fourth task to this list, which was 
to draw up a new model of management to deliver better housing services in 
the borough.  
 
The Commission had investigated whether the Council could remain the 
landlord but be bound to retain the housing stock. Specialist Housing lawyers 
had advised that this was not possible and that the only way to guarantee 
security for residents was to transfer the ownership of the housing stock to 
residents. The principal reccomendation of the Residents’ Commission was 
therefore for the Borough’s Council Housing stock to be transferred to a new 
housing association based on the community gateway model, which would 
give control to residents. 
 
The Commission had looked at how investment in the housing stock could 
take place. Keith Hill noted that during the lifetime of the commission, 
Government had decided that Councils would have to sell off high value voids 
giving the proceeds to Government, as well as legislating to reduce social 
rents by 1% per annum. This would make it more difficult for the Council to 
invest, as revenue would fall; the proposals would leave an £80 million gap in 
the Housing Budget over the next 5 years, and £400 million over the 40 years 
covered by the stock condition survey. The HRA Debt Cap placed upon the 
Council meant that it couldn’t retain the Housing Stock and borrow the money 
necessary to cover these shortfalls, meaning that investment would have to 
be cut. Housing Associations were however free to borrow what they could 
afford, and a stock transfer would therefore mean that investment needs 
could be met.  
 
Keith Hill explained that government support for a stock transfer would 
depend on new homes being built by the new housing association. The 
Cabinet had also asked the Commission to look at how new homes could be 
built. The Commission thought that at least 500 new homes would be 
required by the Government in order for it to support the stock transfer, and it 
was the Commission’s belief that this was deliverable by the new housing 
association, in full consultation with residents. 
 
The Commission had reccomended that a community gateway model be 
implemented to deliver better housing services. A detailed Blueprint for the 
structure and culture of a the new housing association would be published as 
a supplement to the main report. 
 
Keith Hill explained that there would be a Special Borough Forum, giving a 
further opportunity to discuss the report, at 7pm on Tuesday 10th November, 
in the Small Hall at Hammersmith Town Hall. The report would then be 
considered by the Council’s Cabinet on Monday 7th December. If the report’s 
reccomendations were accepted by the Cabinet, further consultation and 
scrutiny would then take place, as well as negotiations with Government, 
before residents being given a vote on whether they wanted to accept the 
changes. 
 
Keith Hill thanked the members of the Residents’ Commission, the 
Commission’s advisers, residents who had attended meetings and given their 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

views, those who had appeared as witnesses, and those organisations which 
had hosted visits. He also thanked the officers of the Council for their support, 
especially those working in the programme team who had provided excellent 
support to the Commission. The report was the result of hard work from all of 
these people, and he commended its contents to the Council. The meeting 
again showed its appreciation for the work of the Residents Commission with 
a round of applause. 
 
The Chair invited questions from members of the committee.  
 
Councillor Phibbs asked where the addittional 500 homes proposed would be 
built, and whether estate redevelopment would be one of the mechanisms 
used to provide these. Keith Hill explained that the Commission had looked at 
the potential for development on estates, and were reassured by the 
indication from the residents survey that tenants and leaseholders were 
happy to consider redevelopment. Specific schemes would be for the Council 
and the new Housing Association to develop, working with local people, which 
he considered to be the key to delivering successful regeneration. Peter 
Bevington refered to the section of the report regarding regeneration, and 
explained that the Commission had looked very closely at the issue. He said 
that regeneration in Hammersmith and Fulham needed to be ‘detoxified’ and 
that this was possible by putting residents in control of the process. Shirley 
Culpit explained that the Commission could not have identified specific sites 
whilst staying within its brief from Cabinet nor could it have done so without 
significant levels of detailed consultation with tenants and leaseholders about 
such schemes, which would have distracted from the Commission’s purpose. 
 
Councillor Connell noted that changes made by Government had led to the 
Commission’s work being made more complex, and asked what the impact of 
the Housing Bill had been on the Commission’s work. Keith Hill explained that 
much of the contents of the Housing Bill had been expected by those with a 
particular interest in Housing, and so the impact on the Bill had not been 
significant. The Commission had however paused for a short period to 
consider the implications of the Bill’s contents on its work. Anthony Mason 
explained that a number of other changes made by the government had also 
impacted on the work of the Residents’ Commission, citing as examples the 
proposals for those earning higher incomes to be made to pay market rents, 
the extension of the Right to Buy to Housing Association properties, the 
reduction of social rents, and the requirement to sell high value voids. 
 
Councillor Ivimy noted that Council Housing had previously been run by an 
Arms Length Management Organisation (ALMO), which in theory involved 
significant resident input, however, she didn’t think that many residents had 
felt in control of the ALMO. She asked how residents could be sure that they 
would be able to control the new Housing Association. Keith Hill explained 
that the Commission had been attracted to the Community Gateway model 
because it was successful in engaging residents in a sustainable way. The 
Board had been lead by residents at both of the ‘Community Gateway’ 
housing associations the Commission had visited, and the resident 
membership body which voted on all key issues ensured that a very broad 
group of people were engaged in the work of the housing association. Peter 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Bevington explained that the Community Gateway structure was flexible 
enough to devolve power in accordance with the capacity and appetite of 
residents, and that the model would lead to increased engagement over time. 
He noted that the large amount of engagement which would have to take 
place before a residents vote on whether to adopt the model would actually 
create a strong base for the new housing association to build upon. Joanne 
Drew said that the benefits of a community gateway model as she saw them 
were a leadership which would have to engage with staff and residents, a 
culture of collaborative working between residents and staff, and an 
organisation which understood residents as individuals. Shirley Cupit said that 
she had been inspired to see the model in action in Lewisham, and that the a 
Community Gateway Housing Association was far more reactive to residents 
needs than most ALMOs had been. Anthony Wood, who had sat on the 
ALMO board agreed that it had not filtered control to residents as the 
Community Gateway model did.  
 
Councillor Ivimy asked how the culture amongst existing staff could be 
changed. Keith Hill said that the stock transfer would be a clean break for 
staff and would thereby change ways of working and improve the culture 
amongst staff, who would understand that residents were in control of the 
organisation. Anthony Wood noted that there were also models in which staff 
held shares in the organisation and were thereby incentivised to work for that 
organisation. Councillor Cowan noted that changing cultures and ways of 
working was something managers faced most of the time, and he was 
pleased with the progress that had been made in the Housing Department. 
He hoped that Council staff would be pleased to work for any new 
organisation and embrace its culture.  
 
Councillor Brown asked whether tenancies would remain as secure for 
tenancies as they were presently. Keith Hill noted that tenancy rights were a 
key issue for both the Commission and for tenants. The Commission felt that 
assured tenancies could offer at least the same protections as a secure 
tenancy. Kim Shearer said that as a tenant,  tenancy rights were important to 
her, and she explained that an assured tenancy could only be changed with 
the agreement of the tenant, whereas a secure tenancy could be varied 
without it. So long as the first new tenancies were well drafted, a very high 
level of protection could be offered, potentially with additional benefits such as 
a second succession being allowed.  
 
Councillor Phibbs asked whether there would be a mechanism by which the 
transfer could be reversed. Keith Hill explained that the decision to transfer 
the stock was final, and that it was important therefore to create a resident-led 
housing association which would be sucessful.  
 
The Chair then invited residents to ask questions. 
 
A resident asked what the implications would be for leaseholders. Keith Hill 
noted that a high proportion (25%) of residents on Council estates were 
leaseholders. The Commission saw no risk for leaseholders from the stock 
transfer. Leaseholders would be able to have an active role in the running of 
the new housing association, and would benefit from the more resident 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

focussed way estates would be managed. John Ghazi Quick said that as a 
leaseholder he had been impressed with the amount of time and 
consideration the Commission had given to leaseholder issues. He felth that 
the stock transfer would make processes less bureaucratic and give 
leaseholders a voice. Councillor Cowan explained that leaseholders on the 
West Kensington Estate were being forced out of their homes because of the 
actions of a previous Council administration. He thought it unlikely that many 
would be able to remain in the borough, and that the current administration 
had set up the Residents Commission to give leaseholders more security. He 
thought that the reccomendations made by the Commission would achieve 
this, which seemed him to be of significant benefit to leaseholders. 
 
Ray Champion, a local resident, asked how quickly the proposal could be 
implemented if the Cabinet agreed with the Residents’ Commission’s 
reccomendations. Keith Hill explained that there would need to be further 
consultation with residents, negotiations with Government and the Greater 
London Authority, and a considerable amount of legal work. He thought that if 
all went well residents could be making the decision on whether or not to 
transfer the stock in about 12 months.  
 
Peter Chutter, a tenant, asked whether the financial model for the Housing 
Association was sustainable, especially considering level the borrowing the 
association was likely to need to allow it to invest. Peter Bevington explained 
that the modelling used showed that the housing association would be 
sustainable, and that the borrowing cost for a housing association was 
typically very low. 
 
Gwen Cook, a tenant, asked if housing association debt was classed as 
public or private sector borrowing. Peter Bevington explained that it had 
recently been reclassified as public sector debt, but emphasised that housing 
associations would still be able to borrow at low rates on private markets. 
 
A resident of Sheltered Accomodation said that people in her block were not 
interested in running their own housing association. Anthony Wood explained 
that he had represented Sheltered Accommodation Residents on the 
Commission and that he felt it was possible for residents to help make 
decisions with management, without having to commit large amounts of time 
and effort. He thought that residents were not currently involved enough and 
that that meant that the service they received was not what they wanted it to 
be.  
 
A resident asked whether Ground 8, which related to rent arrears, would be 
used to evict tenants. Kim Shearer explained that the Residents’ Commission 
would propose that the use of Ground 8 be written out as part of the new 
tenancies issued to residents.  
 
A resident asked whether the Commission’s financial modelling took account 
of the different payment schedules of housing benefit to local authorities and 
housing associations, as he thought that the new association would miss out 
on 4 weeks of direct payments. Anthony Mason explained that the bridging 
loan took this into account. Keith Hill noted that this was an issue in every 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

stock transfer from a local authority to a housing association, but was one 
which was resolved without great difficulty through negotiations. 
 
A resident asked what consideration the Residents’ Commission had given to 
the option of a Community Land Trust. Peter Bevington explained that a 
Community Land Trust was not considered to be viable for Hammersmith and 
Fulham as it generally only worked on a small scale.  
 
A resident asked what the impact on disabled residents would be. Shirley 
Cupit said that the new model would put people’s needs at the heart of 
services, and so she thought the change would be of great benefit to disabled 
residents. She reassured him that the Residents’ Commission had considered 
the implications of the change for disabled people very carefully.  
 
A tenant explained that they had asked a number of questions of the 
commission, but that some were still unanswered. Keith Hill explained that the 
Commission had responded to over 200 of the resident’s questions, but that 
officers were still working through another 50 or so questions.  
 
A resident questioned strongly whether the reccomendations were 
achievable, and whether residents were capable of running a housing 
association. Keith Hill said that the reccomendations were achievable, noting 
that Hammersmith and Fulham could offer affordable homes in Inner London, 
which would make the Government more likely to agree to the debt write off. 
Anthony Mason agreed that the Government could be persuaded to grant the 
write off.  
 
Turning to the issue of whether residents could run the new organisation, 
Keith Hill said that he was sure that residents could, with the assistance of 
professionals, manage the proposed housing association well. He noted the 
level of involvement residents had in both the current arrangements and the 
Residents’ Commission, as well as the success of resident led housing 
associations elsewhere. He also said that residents across the country ran 
their housing associations successfully. Shirley Cupit noted that the services 
provided by the housing association would be run professionally, but that 
tenants and leaseholders would be given a stronger voice in how these 
services worked. She felt that the Residents’ Commission was a good 
example of residents, experts and professionals working together could 
achieve.  A resident felt that the new model would allow immediate 
accountability, rather than residents having to wit for the next local elections 
before being able to show their dissatisfaction with services.  
 
Henry Talman, a tenant, explained that he was concerned that Councillor 
Ivimy had made negative comments about the Arms Length Management 
Organisation (ALMO), noting that it had delivered decent homes, and had 
done so within the allocated budget. Councillor Ivimy clarified that she thought 
those residents who had served on the ALMO board had been diligent in their 
duties, but that the organisation had been unresponsive to their calls for 
improvements; she did not want any new body to be similarly disconnected 
from those who it served.  

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Mr Talman said that he did not like the idea of transferring the housing stock 
from the Council, but thought that it was better that than implement some of 
the policies the Government was proposing for Council Housing. Keith Hill 
agreed that it was a difficult time for social housing providers generally, but 
felt that Hammersmith and Fulham was ‘ahead of the game’ with the 
Residents Commission’s proposals.  
 
A resident asked whether the new organisation would be able to work 
collaboratively with the Council to support vulnerable people. Keith Hill said 
that the new organisation would be able to work with the Local Authority and, 
because it would be more focussed on residents, this work would be of 
greater value to vulnerable people.  
 
A resident asked whether there was a significant problem with rent arrears in 
Hammersmith and Fulham, and questionned whether the new Housing 
Association would have to deal with this. Kathleen Corbett, Lead Director of 
Housing Finance and Resources, explained that Rent Arrears in the Borough 
were reducing, and that the Council was trying to be fair and provide support 
to those who needed it. For example, officers were now able to refer people 
directly to the Citizens Advice Bureau and Crosslight for advice.  
 

Councillor Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing, thanked the Residents’ 
Commission for their report. She was grateful for the large amount of work 
members had put into it, and felt that whatever action the Cabinet decided to 
take, its contents would be an important part of their judgement. She asked 
that officers consider the implications of the recommendations and formally 
report to the Cabinet at the earliest opportunity. Councillor Homan explained 
that she had asked the Residents’ Commission to continue as an advisory 
body for the time being, as she felt its expertise could be helpful to the 
Council. Finally, Councillor Homan said that she had enjoyed listening to 
residents and Councillors views and that these would inform her decisions on 
housing services; she was sure that the committee would ensure that she 
took their comments on board.  

 

Councillor Cowan thanked Keith Hill for having chaired the Residents’ 
Commission, and for having done so in a way which helped all to express 
their views. He then thanked the Commissioners for their hard work. He 
explained that the Council was aiming to create a model of running social 
housing which was better than the existing one, and also to safeguard the 
future of social housing in the borough.  

 
22. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING  

 
Members noted that the next meeting would be held on 1 December 2015 at 
7pm in the Small Hall, Hammersmith Town Hall. 
 
The Chairman thanked all those present for attending and contributing to an 
interesting and useful discussion. 
 

 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.10 pm 

 
 

Chairman   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Ainsley Gilbert 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2088 
 E-mail: ainsley.gilbert@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 9



 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 
ECONOMIC REGENERATION, HOUSING AND THE ARTS 

POLICY & ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 

1st DECEMBER 2015 
 

FINANCIAL PLAN FOR COUNCIL HOMES 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing 
 

Open Report 

Classification - For Policy & Advisory Review & Comment 
 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Lead Director: Kathleen Corbett, Lead Director for Housing 
 

Report Author: Kathleen Corbett, Director of Finance 
and Resources (Housing) 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3031 
E-mail: 
kathleen.corbett@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 This report deals with: 
 

 the 1% decrease in rents for Council Homes which is being forced 
on the Council by central Government for each of the next four 
years; 

 how, although initially this looks like good news for tenants, this 
has a significant impact on the ability of the Council to carry out 
repairs and improvements on Council homes.  
 

1.2 It should be noted that this report was drafted before the Government’s 
November 2015 Comprehensive Spending Review. 

  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 The PAC is invited to comment on the significant impact of the 
Government-imposed 1% reduction in rents for each of the next four 
years. This subject was previously considered by the Housing 
Representatives Forum on 20th October 2015 and 17th November 2015, 
the outcome of which informs this paper. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 4



 
3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

3.1. The Council uses all of the money from rents and other income it receives 
from tenants to pay for the cost of managing and maintaining council 
homes and to cover the interest on its housing debt (in the same way 
someone would pay their mortgage). The Government has said it will not 
provide any further funding for improving council homes. The Council can 
currently raise further funds to improve homes through asset sales and 
borrowing money (as long as this borrowing stays within a limit set by 
Government).  
 

3.2. Council homes are accounted for in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). 
This covers services provided to tenants and leaseholders in properties 
owned1 by the Council that are paid for by tenants’ rent, tenants’ service 
charges, leaseholders’ service charges and any other associated income 
from land held for “housing purposes”. The HRA was established by an 
Act of Parliament2 to ensure that council tax payers cannot subsidise 
council rents and nor can council rents subsidise council tax. Tenants and 
leaseholders who live in council-owned properties pay council tax 
separately for other council services.  

 
3.3. In April 2012, the Government abolished the HRA subsidy system. 

Previously, the Government made a payment to the Council to help cover 
the cost of interest payments on our housing debt and the costs of 
managing and maintaining council homes. The Government has now 
stopped this payment. In return, the Council’s debt was reduced in 2012. 
This debt reduction was based on a calculation carried out by Government 
to work out the amount of debt the rent the Council received from tenants 
would be able to repay over 30 years, after allowing for the cost of 
managing and maintaining the homes. This calculation assumed there 
would be rent increases every year linked to a measure of inflation known 
as the Retail Price Index (RPI) + ½%.  
 

3.4. Prior to May 2014, the Council sold vacant council homes to fund a 
significant part of the HRA’s financial plan. This practice ended with the 
change of Administration and a new Financial Plan for Council Homes was 
approved in January 2015. This plan covered a 40-year period and 
maintained the same level of proposed investment in council homes over 
the four years 2015/16 – 2018/19 as the previous HRA business plan 
approved by Cabinet in February 2014, but without relying on the disposal 
of homes that became vacant when a tenant moved (known as voids). In 
order to enable this level of investment, tenants agreed to a rent increase 
of the Consumer Price Index (CPI)3+1% with an additional £1 rent 

                                            
1
 Includes properties held on a long lease 

2
 Failure to adhere to this statutory guidance can render the council’s Annual Report and 

Accounts subject to challenge and/or qualification by the District Auditor.    
3
 The rent increase for April 2015 was based on the Consumer Prices Index as at September 

2014 (1.2%). CPI is another measure of inflation that is calculated each month by 
Government. It is normally lower than RPI. 

Page 11



increase for tenants who pay less than target rent (previous Council policy 
was for a £2 rent increase) and for tenants’ service charges to be 
increased in line with CPI only. 

 
3.5. In the Summer Budget statement of 8th July 2015, the Chancellor of the 

Exchequer announced that social housing rents will be reduced by 1% 
each year for four years from April 2016. This is being enforced by an Act 
of Parliament. The decision will result in much lower rent levels than those 
used by Government to calculate the debt reduction they gave the Council 
in 2012. As rent levels determine how much money is available to pay for 
the management and maintenance of Council Homes, it means there is a 
lot less money available to pay for this.  

 
3.6. A number of other announcements were made in the Summer Budget. 

There are two key ones for the purposes of this paper: 
 

 the enforced sale of high value voids with the sale proceeds being 
paid over to central Government; 

 higher rents for households who live in Council Homes who earn 
over £40,000 per year. 
 

3.7 There is not enough detail published to date on both these policies to 
enable reliable financial modelling to be included in the Long Term 
Financial Plan for the HRA. Therefore, the numbers below exclude the 
impact of these two policies. It is likely that both these policies will put 
further pressure on the Council’s finances. 

 
4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

4.1 The rent reduction imposed on the Council by central Government will 
result in average rents reducing by £17 per week over the four year period. 
On the face of it this is good news for tenants but in practice it means that 
the Council has a lot less money to spend on managing and maintaining 
tenants’ homes especially as the average rent for our Council Homes of 
£109.02 per week is already lower than that of most other central London 
Boroughs: 

 

 Southwark £101.99 

 Lambeth £110.31 

 Tower Hamlets £111.38 

 Camden £114.04 

 Islington £115.89 

 Kensington and Chelsea £123.81 

 Westminster £124.95 

 Wandsworth £126.70 
4.2 .  

 
4.3 If the level of planned repairs and investment in current Council Homes 

approved in January 2015 is maintained it means that there is a shortfall in 

Page 12



the Council’s Long Term Financial Plan for Council homes of £74m over 
ten years. This means we either need to get more money in or spend less.  

 
4.4 The opportunity to get more money in is restricted as the majority of the 

income received in the HRA is from tenants’ rents, tenants’ service 
charges and leaseholder service charges. Tenants and leaseholder 
service charges are linked to costs incurred and rent reductions for the 
next four years are set by legislation. Other income in the HRA for 2016/17 
from commercial rents, advertising income and garages is currently 
forecast at £3m, £250,000 (8.3%) higher than for 2015/16 mostly due to 
additional advertising income. 

 
 

4.5 Cumulative on-going annual savings delivered in the five years to 31st 

March 2016 were £10.9m and a future savings programme is already set 
to deliver on-going additional savings of £0.9m from 2016/17 rising to 
£2.4m by 2019/20 ( i.e. £14.2m cumulative annual savings since the return 
of management to the Council in 2011). This means there is little scope for 
further savings without compromising service delivery. 

 
4.6 Therefore, after discussion with the Housing Representatives forum, the 

Council is proposing to re-phase necessary major works to a much later 
period to produce a balanced plan. This will inevitably mean that we 
continue to have a significant repairs backlog and that this backlog starts 
to grow. It means that there is a risk that, not only will the condition of 
homes deteriorate, but that the day to day repair costs will start to 
increase. 

 
4.7 A revised long term 40 year financial plan has been produced which 

incorporates the effect of the Government imposed 1% rent reduction and 
the revised plan for major works which includes the postponement of 
major works. This is equivalent to postponing window and door 
replacements to 4,400 homes, roof renewals for 2,650 homes, 4,400 new 
heating systems, 1,750 electrical rewires, 1,750 new kitchens and 1,100 
new bathrooms.  

 
4.8 This is now being pulled together into a 10 year plan which will show 

tenants at the Housing Representatives Forum in January 2016 the work 
we will be able to do on each estate and what work we have had to 
postpone. This plan will as far as possible take into account the views 
expressed to date by tenants. Tenants have told us that they value window 
replacements and that they want us to focus on the Street Properties 
where planned works have not been carried out for a long time. This will 
need to be balanced against the risk that we may be forced to sell these 
homes when they become vacant. 

 
4.9 Officers will also take the plans for each estate to the Tenants’ and 

Residents’ Association’s and these consultations will form the basis of the 
estate-based plans for major works that we will work with residents on. 
These plans will be based on our best information to date. It is important to 

Page 13



understand that over time the detailed programme will inevitably change 
as a result of emerging issues, including any more Government policy 
changes. 
 

4.10 The Cabinet intends to consider the Financial Plan for Council Homes for 
2016/17 on 11th January 2016. The PAC’s view will inform the Cabinet’s 
decision. 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of 
holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Housing Representatives 
Forum, 17th November 2015  

Kathleen Corbett, 
Ext 3031 

3rd Floor Town Hall 
Extension, King Street, 
Hammersmith, London, 
W6 9JU 

 

Page 14



 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 
ECONOMIC REGENERATION, HOUSING AND THE ARTS 

POLICY & ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 

1st DECEMBER 2015 
 

SERVICE CHARGES FOR LEASEHOLDERS 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Housing 
 

Open Report 

Classification - For Policy & Advisory Review & Comment 
 

Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Lead Director: Kathleen Corbett, Lead Director for Housing and director 
for Finance and Resources (Housing) 

Report Author: Kathleen Corbett, Lead Director for 
Housing and director for Finance and Resources 
(Housing) 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 3031 
E-mail: 
kathleen.corbett@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1 This report explains how leaseholders are invoiced and sets out the work 

underway with leaseholders to improve the quality of invoices, ensuring 
that they are meaningful, clear, understandable and transparent. 

  
2. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

2.1. Leaseholders receive two types of invoices 
 

2.2 Service Charges:  
2.2.1 This covers the services delivered to a building and / or estate. The 

average annual cost per leaseholder for 2014/15 was £827 which 
compares favourably with the average annual costs charged to 
leaseholders for service charges by the Royal Borough of Kensington and 
Chelsea at £1,567 and Westminster at £1,054. 
 

2.2.2 The services delivered may include: 
o Estate Support & Security 
o Caretaking 
o Horticulture 
o Lift Servicing 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



o Lift Works 
o Booster pumps 
o Extractor Fans 
o Fire Equipment Maintenance 
o Fire Pump Maintenance 
o Lift Air conditioning 
o Lift Pit Pumps 
o Water Tank Works 
o Submersible Pumps 
o Intruder Alarms 
o Electricity 
o Water Meters 
o Controlled Access 
o Heating Servicing 
o Heating Repairs 
o Lighting Protection 
o TV Aerials 
o Emergency Lighting 
o Repairs 
o Insurance 
o Ground rent 

 
2.2.3 Leaseholders only pay for the actual cost of the service they receive. The 

Full details are set out in each lease of the areas covered.  
 
2.2.4 Leaseholders are invoiced for the estimated annual service charge each 

March (for example in March 2016 the Council will send out a bill for the 
estimated service charges for 2016/17). They can pay this in ten monthly 
instalments. Leaseholders receive a final reconciling invoice or credit note 
for each year in September after year-end (for example in September 
2015 the actual final invoice / credit note for 2014/15). This reconciling 
invoice or credit note ensures that leaseholders only pay for the actual 
costs incurred by the Council.  

 
2.2.5 Both invoices are accompanied by a breakdown of the charge into the 

different service elements. The September invoice is also accompanied by 
a breakdown of all the job orders charged under the repairs heading. This 
enables leaseholders to identify those reactive repairs carried out on their 
buildings and estates within the last financial year and also to query 
specific job orders, which in turn assists the officers investigating specific 
queries.   

 
2.3 Major Works  
 
2.3.1 The major works invoices are preceded by a statutory consultation notice 

(a Section 20 notice) which is issued to leaseholders before work 
commences. Works are currently invoiced after completion. There is a 
range of payment options available to resident leaseholders to help them 
spread the cost. 

 

Page 16



3. WORKING WITH LEASEHOLDERS 

3.1 The Council is working with Leaseholders to continuously improve the 
clarity of the invoices and related items. The projects have all arisen as a 
result of feedback from Leaseholders and include: 

 

 Resident Reading Group: This group reviewed the statutory notice 
(Section 20) leaseholders receive before works are carried out.  The 
notice advises leaseholders of the works planned on the building and, 
more importantly, how much the Council estimates the leaseholder 
may have to contribute towards the work.  An individual contribution 
could potentially be over £10,000 and understandably can cause a lot 
of anguish.  We worked with the reading panel and other leaseholders 
to ensure that the notice is as informative and clear as possible whilst 
providing the information leaseholders require, including the payment 
terms that will be available once an invoice is issued, in a format that is 
easy to understand.  The new notice is now in use and we plan to 
review it again next summer to check if we need to make any more 
changes. 
 

 Estimates included on the Section 20 notice: Work has now 
commenced with leaseholders, MITIE and Planned Maintenance to 
look at how the works needed at properties are identified and the costs 
are estimated.  The first meeting took place on the 28th September and 
it was clear from all sides that the estimates that we have historically 
provided for these works has not been to a standard that is acceptable 
to our customers. We, in conjunction with MITIE, have arranged 
training courses for all staff involved in this area to ensure that the 
quality, accuracy and transparency of information in this area is 
improved significantly with an almost immediate effect. The first training 
session was held on 13th November 2015 and this training will be 
completed by 4th December 2015. Again we plan to review the outcome 
of our work to check that the expected service improvements have 
been achieved. 
 

 Estate Inspections: The inspections are attended by a mix of 
leaseholders and tenants.  This had already been reviewed however 
the  newly implemented process did not meet resident aspirations and 
a further resident review is taking place to look at resident scoring of 
estate inspections (with a focus on improving service to ensure 
resident aspirations are met).  

 

 Repairs Working Group: This is also made up of tenants and 
leaseholders with a remit to look at planned work as well as day to day 
repairs. The focus is around how planned repairs are communicated to 
both leaseholders and tenants at an early stage, before any statutory 
notices are issued to leaseholders.  Those buildings containing only 
leasehold flats are now identified at an early stage and leaseholders 
are written to before any notices are issued to remind them that they 

Page 17



can purchase the Freehold, allowing them to carry out the work 
themselves. 
 

 Caretaking Service Review Group: The Pinnacle PSG contract has 
been in place now for two years. The aim of this group is to make the 
service work better and to improve customer satisfaction by delivering 
what residents want. The ideas produced by this group will form the 
basis of a wider consultation with all residents before any major 
changes are implemented. We have asked for expressions of interest 
from all residents and have now selected 6 residents from the South 
area, and 6 from the North to assist us as the core review group.  This 
group includes tenants and leaseholders, representation from sheltered 
housing, with the residents coming from large and small estates and 
'gap site' style properties.  The first meeting will be held on the 30th 
November. 
 

 MITIE:  Internal Audit will be carrying out an audit on how work is 
checked.  The work will be carried out by independent surveyors 
supervised by Internal Auditors.  The work should be completed by the 
end of the financial year and the results and any actions will be shared 
with Leaseholders. 
 

 Responding to queries from leaseholders on reactive repairs. We are 
working with our colleagues in Property Services and residents to 
consider how we can improve the integrity of this data in the longer 
term so we get more invoices right first time. In the short term we hope 
to resolve some queries proactively by meeting with key leaseholders 
from some of the larger estates. This will form part of the service 
charge calculation process, where we will aim to go through the repairs 
listed for their building and/or estate to resolve any queries before the 
invoices are raised.  These meetings will take place between June and 
July each year. 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of 
holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. Minutes of October Leaseholder 
Forums  

Kathleen Corbett, 
Ext 3031 

3rd Floor Town Hall 
Extension, King Street, 
Hammersmith, London, 
W6 9JU 

 

Page 18



Economic Regeneration, Housing & the Arts PAC Work Programme 2015/16 
 

2nd June 2015 

Small Hall, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Progress review of the issues addressed by the PAC 
since its formation 

Craig Bowdery To continue the progress review that was started at 
the Committee’s previous meeting 
  

Taskforce on Social Value Procurement Cllr Ben Coleman / 
Craig Bowdery 

To receive the draft Final Report of the Taskforce and 
consider the recommendations to be made to Cabinet  
 

Draft response to the Government’s Business Rates 
Review 

Craig Bowdery To consider a draft response to the consultation, 
based on last year’s Business Rates Scrutiny Task 
Group 
 

 

7th July 2015 

Small Hall, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Housing strategy second phase of consultation on the 
council’s housing allocation scheme; tenancy 
strategy; and home buy allocation scheme draft 
documents 

Mike England To consider the proposed housing allocation scheme, 
tenancy strategy, and home buy allocation scheme 
and make comment upon them before their adoption 

 

8th September 2015 

Small Hall, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Arts Strategy Donna Pentelow To review the Council’s proposed Arts Strategy and 
an update on the issues raised at the Committee’s 
March meeting  

 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 6



Economic Regeneration, Housing & the Arts PAC Work Programme 2015/16 
 
 

3rd November 2015 

Small Hall, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Residents Commission on Council Housing 
 

Mike England To consider the report submitted by the Residents 
Commission  
 

 

1st December 2015 

Small Hall, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

The Financial Plan for Council Homes  
 

Kath 
Corbett/Danny 
Rochford 

To review the HRA budget (including the 2016/17 rent 
increases and investments) before approval by 
Cabinet in early January 2016 
 

Leaseholder Billing Kath Corbett To understand how leaseholders are invoiced and 
consider ways in which invoices can be made clearer 
and more understandable. 

Work Programme 
 

Ainsley Gilbert To consider the committee’s work programme.  

 

19th January 2016 

Small Hall, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

The draft Budget 2016/17 Mark Jones/Danny 
Rochford/Paul 
Gulley 

To review the 2016/17 budget for the departments 
covered by this committee (See 2015 report) 
 

The private rented sector  
 

Nick Austin To consider the licensing options available to the 
Council to help protect and support residents in the 

P
age 20



Economic Regeneration, Housing & the Arts PAC Work Programme 2015/16 
 

private rented sector  

The use of S.106 funds for Skills and Training Peter Kemp To consider how S.106 funds are spent on improving 
the skills of residents to meet the demands of 
business in the Borough 

 

8th March 2016 

Small Hall, HTH. 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Possible Item on Housing   

Adult learning  
 

Eamon Sconlon To review the adult learning curriculum delivered by 
the Council  

 

20th April 2016 

St John’s Church, North End Road/Vanston Place 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Update on Bloemfontein Road and North End Road 
re high street regeneration –  
 

Antonia 
Hollingsworth 

To scrutinise what the administration has done over 
regeneration of North End Road and Bloemfontein 
Road and to discuss future plans and proposals for 
the two areas. For the North End Road Action Group 
(NERAG) to report on their work over the last year 
and a half. 

 

7th June 2016 

Small Hall, HTH or Michael Stewart House (SH Scheme). 7:00pm. 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Sheltered accommodation 
 

Mike England To review the Council’s provision of sheltered 
accommodation and support for vulnerable residents  

 
 

P
age 21



Economic Regeneration, Housing & the Arts PAC Work Programme 2015/16 
 
 

Potential Future Items 

ITEM LEAD OFFICER  REPORT BRIEF 

Housing for disabled people Helen McDonough 
 

To consider the proposed actions for meeting the 
housing needs of disabled people  
 

Update on the Resident Involvement Structure 
 

Daniel Miller To receive an update on the Council’s work to 
establish a structure consisting of a number of panels 
and groups designed to provide Council Tenants and 
Leaseholders with greater decision making powers 
and increased involvement 
 

Residents Communication Strategy  Mike England To consider how the Council communicates and 
shares information with Council housing residents. 

Doing business in Hammersmith & Fulham  Antonia 
Hollingsworth 

To review the existing business regulation in the 
borough and to consider how the Council can make 
Hammersmith & Fulham a good place to do business  
 

Tackling worklessness 
 

Antonia 
Hollingsworth 

To assess the impact of the Government’s welfare 
reforms and the measures undertaken by the Council 
to help people back into work, including the OnePlace 
project with JobCentre+ 
 

The development of new KPIs for Mitie 
 

Steven Kirrage  To review the development of new Key Performance 
Indicators for the housing contractor Mitie. The new 
KPIs will more accurately monitor residents’ key 
priorities 

The Council’s home energy strategy and measures to 
tackle fuel poverty 
 

Nick Austin/Justine 
Dornan 

To review the work of the Council to make homes as 
fuel efficient as possible and how vulnerable residents 
will be protected during the winter  
 

 

P
age 22


	Agenda
	3 Minutes & Actions
	Minutes

	4 The Financial Plan For Council Homes
	5 Service Charges for Leaseholders
	6 Work Programme and Date of the Next Meeting

